#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE H. NOWELL

Appellant,

**Case Number SC06-276** 

v.

**STATE OF FLORIDA** 

Appellee.

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### EISENMENGER, BERRY& PETERS, P.A.

**GREGORY W. EISENMENGER,** Florida Bar Number 237175

**ROBERT R. BERRY** Florida Bar Number 714216

5450 Village Drive Viera, Florida 32955 (321)504-0321 (office) (321)504-0320 (fax) litigators@bellsouth.net Attorneys for Appellant

## **

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

The Appellant, WILLIE NOWELL, was indicted by a Brevard County, Florida Grand Jury on July 16, 2002. (Vol. III p. 440-443). The indictment included the following counts:

1. First Degree Premeditated Murder (re: Michelle Gill)

2. Attempted First Degree Premeditated Murder (re: Kelvis Smith)

- 3. Killing of Unborn Child by Injury to Mother
- 4. Armed burglary of structure while inflicting great bodily harm or death.
- 5 Robbery with a firearm while inflicting great bodily harm or death.
- 6. Kidnapping while inflicting great bodily harm or death (re: Kelvis Smith)
- 7. Kidnapping while inflicting great bodily harm or death (re: Michelle Gill)
- 8. Grand theft of motor vehicle
- 10. Possession of firearm by a convicted felon.

There was a count 9 to the indictment, but it did not involve an accusation against Mr. Nowell. Rather, it involved an accusation against the co-defendant in this case, Jermaine Bernard Bellamy. The prosecutions of Mr. Nowell and Mr. Bellamy were severed by order of the trial court. (motion at Vol X. p 1599-1600; amended motion at Vol. X, p. 1607-1609; order granting severance at Vol. X, p. 1610-1611).

Prior to trial, the Defendant filed numerous motions attacking Florida's death penalty scheme as being unconstitutional. These include:

1. Motion to Declare Florida's Death Penalty Unconstitutional. (Vol. XI, p. 1657-1662.

 Motion to Bar Imposition of Death Sentence on Grounds that Florida's Capital Sentencing Procedure is Unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona. (Vol. XI, p. 1663-1680).

3. Memo in Support of Defendant's Motion to Declare Florida's Death Penalty Unconstitutional (Vol. XI., p. 1687-1726).

4. Motion to Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional and/or to declare Section 921.141(5)(i) Florida Statutes Unconstitutional. (Vol XI, p. 1726-1736).

5. Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and 921.141(5)(a) Florida Statutes Unconstitutional as applied. (Vol. XI., p. 1737-1740).

6. Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and/or 931.141(5)(d), Florida Statutes and/or the (5)(d) Standard Instruction Unconstitutional Facially and as applied and to Preclude Their Application. (Vol. XI, p. 1741-1745).

7. Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and/or Section 921.141(5)(e), Florida Statutes and/or its Standard Instruction Unconstitutional Facially and as Applied and to Preclude its Use at Bar. (Vol. XI, p. 1746-1752).

Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and/or Section 921.141(5)(f) Florida
 Statutes and or the (5)(f) Standard Jury Instruction Unconstitutional as Applied.
 (Vol. XI, p. 1753-1757).

9. Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and/or 921.141(g)(h), Florida Statutes and or Standard (5)(h) Jury Instruction Unconstitutional as Applied. (Vol. XI, p. 1758-1769).

These motions were denied after hearing by the trial court. (Vol. XII, p. 1889-1890).

Trial in this case commenced with jury selection on September 26, 2005.

(Volume XVII, et. seq.). During jury selection, the State sought to exercise a

challenge against a gentleman whose last name is "Ortega." (Vol. XX, pg. 641).

Ortega was described as a person of Hispanic background. (Vol. XX, pg. 642).

The Defense objected to the peremptory challenge and asked for a *Neil* inquiry.

The Court inquired of counsel for the State as to his reasons for the challenge.

The Assistant State Attorney initially stated the following:

"My reasons are two-fold. Number one, as I look at it, he appears young and of a similar age to the defendant. I would think that Mr. Ortega would relate to the defendant based on age. "Second of all, I noted that his wife works for Devereux, which is a childcare nurturing facility. "I am concerned, based on philosophies within the family, that he may not be able to follow the law when it comes to the actual, in any phase of this particular proceeding. (Vol. XX, pg 643) The trial court asked the Assistant State Attorney what specific answers Ortega

gave that would warrant such a concern. (Vol. XX, pg. 643-44). The Assistant

State Attorney answered there were no such specific answers. (Vol. XX, pg. 644).

The Assistant State Attorney elaborated:

"My race-neutral reason is, in spite of the fact that he said he could follow the law, I don't particularly like him. I don't think he is going to be the kind of juror that I would like. And for those reasons which were race neutral, I'm asking the Court to proceed with allowing me my peremptory challenge." (Vol. XX, pg 645).

The Assistant State Attorney continued:

"And this is why, because we have peremptoral [sic] challenges, the problem I have with it is, in the past it's not like somebody's face. The problem is, well, listen, you can't strike anybody from now on because of race. All minorities have a right to sit, they have a right to sit, can't strike them because of race.

"My reason for striking him is that he's young and appears to be the same or similar age as the defendant, that's the first reason. I think that's sufficient for a peremptory challenge, whether or not it goes for cause for his inability to actually follow the law.

"I think he would associate himself with the defendant because of his age. I think he looks at the defendant and says, you know, that could be me. As a result, it's going to be more difficult for him, if not impossible, to actually do what's asked of him in terms of following the law.

"For that primary reason that [sic] I'm asking that he be striken." (Vol. XX, pg. 646.)

The trial court asked if there were any young males left on the prospective panel,

and both sides agreed a gentlemen named "Collins" was such a person. (Vol. XX,

pg. 654-655). There is no suggestion in the record that Mr. Collins is a minority.

Later in the trial, it was learned that Mr. Ortega was a 2000 graduate of the

University of Florida. (Vol. XXII, p. 915). The trial court then allowed the State's peremptory strike of Mr. Ortega. (Vol. XX, pg. 655). Collins was not struck by the State, and remained on the jury. The Defendant objected to the composition of the panel. (Vol. XX, pg. 656). Counsel for the Defendant renewed his objection to the peremptory strike and the composition of the jury prior to beginning the penalty phase of the trial. (Vol. XXXII, pg. 80-81).

Following the selection of the jury over Defendant's objections, the trial commenced.

The Defendant's theory of defense was that the surviving victim, Kelvis Smith, was not a reliable witness and his identification of the Defendant was the result of his animosity towards the Defendant. (Vol. XXI, page 753, et. seq.). In fact, the defense began its opening statement by saying:

"Ladies and gentlemen, this is the story of a man with a motive, this is the story of a man with so much hatred that he would actually lie about who shot him....What you're going to find out about Big K [street name for Kelvis Smith] is that he is a convicted felon. He is a man whose hatred is so great that he would lie...Back in April of 2002, Mr. Nowell was walking the streets. While he was walkin the streets doing nothing to anyone, he was gunned down, he was shot, he was shot by somebody in our community...The police had suspects in that particular case, the family of Big K and Big K himself. They never prosecuted that case but they knew, or at least believed they knew who was responsible for that. This is the story of Kelvis Smith."

(Vol. XXI, page 753-754). Part of that argument included the fact that during the time periods after the shooting where Mr. Smith was communicating with the 911

dispatcher and paramedics, he never mentions the name of the Defendant as the person who shot him. (Vol. XXI, pp.757 et. seq.).

The State called nineteen (19) witnesses. Their names are listed below with brief summaries of their testimony.

1. Officer Mark Foskey. (Volume XXI, pp. 774-841). Officer Foskey is employed by the Palm Bay Police Department in their communications section. (Vol. XXI, pg. 774). At the time of Ms. Gill's death, Foskey was working road patrol for Palm Bay Police Department. (Vol. XXI, pg. 775). He received a 911 call and was dispatched to 762 Hampton Drive, Palm Bay. (Vol. XXI, p. 775). He and Officer Sampson broke in the door and found a black male (Mr. Smith) sitting on a bed bleeding profusely from his face. (Vol. XXI, p. 781). He found the remains of another person (Ms. Gill) in the southeast bedroom of the residence. (Vol. XXI, p. 784). Photographs of the deceased and of the residence in general were admitted through this witness. Foskey testified the deceased was still warm to the touch when he arrived and noted blood was still dripping off her body. (Vol. XXI, p. 830). It was his belief she had been very recently killed. (Vol. XXI, p. 830). He defined "recently" as being within the last two or three minutes at the most. (Vol. XXI, p. 830).

Officer John Sampson. Officer Sampson received a call at about 1:00
 a.m. on June 15, 2002, and arrived approximately the same time as Officer Foskey.

(Vol. XXI, p. 844). The officers found Mr. Smith sitting on the side of the bed, face slightly down. (Vol XXI, p. 850). His face was completely covered with blood and blood was steadily coming out of his mouth. (Vol. XXI, p. 850). Smith did not speak in any discernable manner to Officer Sampson. (Vol. XXI, p. 850). Sampson stayed with Mr. Smith until EMS people arrived. (Vol. XXI, p. 851). Sampson noted dispatch conversations are recorded, but was unaware whether the dispatch tapes in this case had been preserved. (Vol. XXI, p. 864). There was no evidence presented as to the location of the dispatch tape, and it was never placed in evidence.

3. Richie Acevedo. Mr. Acevedo is a firefighter/paramedic with Brevard County Fire and Rescue. (Vol. XXI, p. 876). He was called to and arrived at 762 Hampton Drive in Palm Bay on June 15, 2002. (Vol XXI, p. 877). He met and treated Mr. Smith. (Vol. XXI, p. 882, et. seq.). Acevedo assessed Smith's condition as "critical." (Vol. XXI, p. 885). On cross examination, Mr. Acevedo conceded he had stated in a pretrial deposition that Smith "talked fine to me," during the time Acevedo was interacting with Smith. (Vol. XXI, p. 892).

4. Jason Smith. Mr. Smith is a firefighter paramedic with the City of Palm Bay, Florida. (Vol. XXII. 919). He responded, as did Mr. Acevedo, to Mr. Smith in the residence. (Vol. XXII, p. 924-925). He described finding Mr. Smith in a "semitripod position." (Vol. XXII, p. 925). His head was positioned over his

knees. (Vol. XXII. 925). It was clear to Paramedic Smith that Kelvis Smith had suffered a "major traumatic event, "obviously from the mouth as well as the face, and obvious respiratory distress." (Vol. XXII. 925). Kelvis Smith was bleeding from the face. (Vol. XXII. 926). Kelvis Smith did not identify who had done this to him at that time. (Vol. XXII. 927). He was not asked who did this to him, at least in the presence of Paramedic Smith. (Vol. XXII. 927). Paramedic Smith described Kelvis Smith's condition as "critical, very critical." (Vol. XXII. 933). On cross examination, Paramedic Smith conceded Kelvis Smith was alert and oriented. (Vol. XXII. 935). He mentioned having trouble breathing and that his arms were hurting. (Vol. XXII. 937). Paramedic Smith noticed marijuana on the floor of the residence. (Vol. XXII. 940). It was found in a bag. (Vol. XXII. 941).

5. Mark Bell. Mark Bell is employed by Brevard County Fire and Rescue. (Vol. XXII, p. 959). Upon contact with Kelvis Smith, Bell had to unwrap cord in order to free the patient's arms. (Vol. XXII, p. 964). Bell took the cord with him to Holmes Regional Medical Center. (Vol. XXII, p. 965). Bell described Mr. Smith's condition as critical and life threatening. (Vol. XXII, p. 971). He did not recall asking Mr. Smith who had done this to him. (Vol. XXII, p. 971-972). He indicated it was something he would ask normally, but does not recall asking it in this particular instance. (Vol. XXII, p. 972). Bell indicated Smith was answering his questions with verbal responses. (Vol. XXII. 974). Bell described Smith's

speech as "gargled" due to the fluids in his mouth. (Vol. XXII, p. 976). Smith told Bell he had been shot. (Vol. XXII. p. 977). His heart rhythm was good, as was his blood pressure. (Vol. XXII, p. 977-978). Bell testified the fact that blood pressure was good meant the person was in stable condition. (Vol. XXII, p. 979).

6. Kelvis Smith. Kelvis Smith is the survivor of the attack at 762 Hampton Drive, Palm Bay, Florida on June 15, 2002. He was romantically involved with the deceased, Michelle Gill, and they lived at the 762 Hampton Drive address beginning in 2001. (Vol. XXII, p. 986-987). Ms. Gill was pregnant with his child as of June 15, 2002. (Vol. XXII, p. 988). Smith believed she was approximately seven and a half months into her pregnancy. (Vol. XXII. 988). Mr. Smith knew Mr. Nowell, but not as Willie Nowell, but rather "Chill Will" or "Willie." (Vol. XXII, p. 988). Over defense objections, Smith identified the Defendant in court. (Vol. XXII, p. 989-990). When Mr. Smith arrived home, he testified he saw two gentlemen in his house. (Vol. XXII, p. 1000). The house had been ransacked. He testified Mr. Nowell had a gun pointed towards him. (Vol. XXII, pg. 1000). Smith testified he recognized the other person as Jermaine Bellamy. (Vol. XXII, p. 1000). He stated both were wearing gloves. (Vol. XXII, p. 1000). He stated Mr. Nowell was wearing a light brown "Dickie" suit. (Vol. XXII, p. 1000). Anticipating cross examination by defense counsel, the State asked Mr. Smith if he had previously testified under oath that Mr. Nowell was wearing dark clothing, either blue or

black. (Vol. XXII, p. 1060). He stated Mr. Bellamy was wearing a black t-shirt with blue shorts with black tennis shoes. (Vol. XXI, p. 1001). Smith stated Nowell had a .45 caliber pistol. (Vol. XXII, p. 1002). Bellamy is alleged to have had a .32 or .38 revolver. (Vol. XXII, p. 1003). Smith stated Nowell requested Smith go to the living room and lie down face first, at which point Nowell tied him up. (Vol. XXII, p. 1004). Ms. Gill was sitting on the floor, with Mr. Bellamy having a gun pointed at her, according to Mr. Smith. (Vol. XXII, p. 1005). Smith stated Mr. Nowell took his phone, car keys, and his wallet, which contained approximately \$800.00 in it. (Vol. XXII, p. 1008). Smith stated he had been making money by selling drugs up until Ms. Gill became pregnant. (Vol. XXII, p. 1009). He stated he gave up selling drugs when Ms. Gill became pregnant. (Vol. XXII, p. 1009). Smith testified Ms. Gill had used marijuana and was a heavy cigarette smoker prior to being pregnant, but was not smoking during pregnancy. (Vol. XXII, p. 1009). When Gill did smoke, she smoked Newports. (Vol. XXII, p. 1010). Smith never smoked. (Vol. XXII, p. 1010). Smith's brother Detrick did not smoke, nor did a Mr. Bray. (Vol. XXII p. 1010). Smith described Gill's emotional state as "real bad" and she was crying. (Vol XXII, p. 1014). A safe was opened, but was empty. (Vol. XXII, p. 1015). They next went to the kitchen area, where Smith stated Nowell lit up a cigarette, which appeared to be a Newport. (Vol. XXII, p. 1016). Smith did not know what Nowell did with the cigarette.

(Vol. XXII, p. 1025). Later, Smith stated he asked Nowell "what [this] was about." (Vol. XXII, p. 1018). Nowell is alleged to have said that Smith had shot him. (Vol. XXII, p. 1018). Smith stated he replied that he didn't shoot Nowell and that Nowell knew Smith had not shot him. (Vol. XXII, p. 1018). Smith stated the first time he even knew Nowell had been shot was when Nowell told him that evening. (Vol. XXII, p. 1019). Two questions later, after prompting by the prosecutor, Nowell stated he had heard Nowell and Bellamy had been shot from information on the "street" and from a couple of his cousins. (Vol. XXII, p. 1019). Mr. Smith denied having shot Mr. Nowell or Mr. Bellamy on April 19, 2002. (Vol. XXII, p. 1023). He further stated he did not know who had shot Nowell and Bellamy. (Vol XXII, p. 1023). Smith then describes a conversation between Nowell and Bellamy regarding what to do with Smith and Gill. (Vol. XXII, p. 1023). Nowell is alleged to have said that if they let Smith and Gill go, they would try to "kill us." (Vol. XXII, p. 1023). Mr. Bellamy is alleged to have then held "up his right hand and goes like this here (demonstrating) across his throat. (Vol. XXII, p. 1023-1024). Smith and Gill were then directed to go to a closet and sit. (Vol. XXII, p. 1026-1027). Nowell allegedly asks Smith for the keys to his truck, and is told he already has them. (Vol. XXII, p. 1028). Nowell left the room and Bellamy is alleged to have remained in the room with a gun trained on Smith and Gill. (Vol. XXII, p. 1029). Smith hears the front door slam and then hears his

truck crank up. (Vol. XXII, p. 1030). Nowell then came back in a few minutes later. (Vol. XXII, p. 1030). Smith states he then saw Nowell and Bellamy whispering to each other. (Vol. XXII, p. 1031). Smith then sees both the guns coming across from the side of the closet and open fire. (Vol. XXII, p. 1031). He sees bullets coming down the wall. (Vol. XXII. 1031). He sees Ms. Gill shaking. (Vol. XXII, p. 1031). Smith says he leaned over and said "Chill, you shot her. Chill you shot her. You said you weren't going to do nothing to her." (Vol. XXII, p. 1031). Smith then testified he [Smith] turned his "head, bam, lights out." (Vol. XXII, p. 1031). After regaining consciousness, he was able to make his way to a telephone and call for help. (Vol. XXII, p. 1033). He had difficulty locating a phone, and had to make his way through the house before finding one in the master bedroom. (Vol. XXII, p. 1034). Smith had learned from a deaf friend the sign language alphabet. (Vol. XXII, p. 1046). He used that language to assist him in communicating with the police while he was in the hospital. (Vol. XXII, p. 1047). He testified he identified Mr. Nowell in a photo lineup at the hospital. (Vol. XXII, p. 1051). Smith stated both Mr. Nowell and Mr. Bellamy shot Michelle Gill. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1107). Smith stated he never hated Mr. Nowell or Mr. Bellamy and was shocked to see them in his house when he arrived home that night. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1108). The Assistant State Attorney asked if Ms. Gill said anything before the guns were discharged, and Smith said other than that she was yelling and crying,

he could not remember anything specific. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1108-1109). On cross examination, Smith agreed he had testified previously in deposition that he had used sign language to spell out the name N-O-W-E-L-L when in fact he had not done so. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1111). Smith agreed he had on several past occasions stated Mr. Nowell was dressed in black when Smith saw him at his house that night. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1112-1113). Smith never identified his alleged assailants to any law enforcement officer or EMT the night of the shooting. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1132). Mr. Smith stated he was certain he "never communicated Willie Nowell's name or description to anyone, family members, friends, or police, until the day that they showed in [his] hospital room." (Vol. XXIII, p. 1134). It is therefore noteworthy that the videotaped conversation between police and Mr. Smith taken at the hospital begins with Detective Santiago stating to Smith "[w]e understand that you know who shot you, is that true?" (Vol. XXIII, p. 1093). At the hospital, Mr. Smith was unable to speak, except through sign language. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1136). Mr. Smith's mother does not understand sign language. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1136). Mr. Smith agreed that during his videotaped interview at the hospital, he never used sign language to spell out "Nowell", "Will," or "Chill." (Vol. XXIII, p. 1138-1139).

7. Mark Mynheir. Officer Mynheir is a police officer with the City of Palm Bay. (Vol. XXIII, p. 1141). Although at the time of the trial in this case he was a

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