IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE H. NOWELL,
Appellant,

Case No. SC06-276

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Religious reference. Third, Nowell alleges the prosecutor improperly made an improper religious argument. (V29, TT1893). There was no objection to this argument. The argument was:

Now, much to do has been made about Mr. Smith's identification. Thank you, **God**, that you make the determination about what occurred involving the identification. I don't get to make that decision, the judge doesn't, the Defense counsel doesn't, you make that decision.

Did Mr. Smith know Willie Nowell and Jermaine Bellamy? First question. The testimony that came before you is that he did, not only from Mr. Smith but from all the other witnesses who testified.

The women at Ryan's Steakhouse. Man, they have no axe to grind. Did Kelvis know Willie Nowell? Did Willie Nowell know him? Yes. That question is answered unequivocally yes.

Does Mr. Smith have some reason to lie, such an overpowering motivation to lie to you about who did this to him and to his pregnant girlfriend that he would lie to you? The overwhelming, overwhelming answer is no, he has no reason to lie. Even if he believed he was mistaken, he has no reason not to tell you that, because by his own testimony, I want the right people.

(V29, TT1893). There was no objection. The reference to "God" was so fleeting that even defense counsel did not find it offensive.

Fundamental error. Trial counsel made no objection, or contemporaneous objection, to many of the comments. These issues are not preserved for review and thus not cognizable on appeal. See Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997); Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). The only exception to this procedural bar is where the prosecutor's comments constitute fundamental error. Bonifay v. State, 680 So. 2d 413, 418 n.9 (Fla. 1996). Fundamental error is defined as the type of error which "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Kilgore, 688 So. 2d at 898. See Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300, 316 (Fla. 1997) ("imagine" the suffering of the victims reflects a poor choice of words, but is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt); Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1207-1208 (Fla. 2005)

(using the term "imagine," does not rise to the level of fundamental error or "reach down into the validity of the trial itself"); Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 626-634 (Fla. 2006)(religious argument); Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996)(biblical references; use of word "exterminate").

Nowell has failed to show these issues were error, much less fundamental. See Hodges v. State, 885 So.2d 338, 368 (Fla. 2003) citing Maddox v. State, 760 So.2d 89, 94 (Fla. 2000)(heavy burden on defendant to establish fundamental error).

Harmless error. The only arguments which were properly preserved were the "caged" comment and that Michelle "whimpered and begged." Both of these comments were fair comments on the evicence. Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986).

POINT III

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HER DISCRETION BY OVERRULING OBJECTIONS AND DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENTS

Nowell claims a new penalty phase is required because the prosecutor made improper arguments.

The first comments were:

Justice, you hold justice in your hands. Justice is, we tried to capture this notion of justice and we focused on a statue of a woman who's blindfolded, and in one hand she holds a set of scales to balance and in the other hand she holds a sword, interpreting that as some sort of fairness balanced with swiftness. Justice requires firmness, harshness, and that's what it requires.

There are words in our common day that we hear every day. We hear the word death, death has an ominous meaning to it. We're afraid of death. Nobody wants to die.

We hear the word mercy. Mercy is a word that makes us feel good, we want to be the kind of person that can grant mercy, that's capable of doing that. Justice grants mercy when mercy is applicable.

In this particular case and as I speak and as Defense counsel speaks, I ask that you keep in your minds eye whether mercy is a part of justice in this case.

I submit to you it is not, because mercy was not granted to Ms. Michelle Gill. There was no mercy when Mr. Nowell and Mr. Bellamy stood at the opening of that closet. There was no mercy when Mr. Nowell and Mr. Bellamy had the opportunity to dispense mercy, when they had the opportunity to see Ms. Gill, to see that she was pregnant, to see her crying, to see her begging. When they had an opportunity to see that she was aware that her only means of safety and protection was in that very same closet with his hands tied

behind his back, they were able to see that no one had a weapon other than the killers, they were able to see this.

And yet, in spite of that scene, in spite of those moments, Mr. Nowell, while those two helpless human beings, seated in a closet, disengaged from the rest of the world, no hope $-^{-14}$

MR. MAWN: Objection. May we approach?

THE COURT: Counsel, approach.

Whereupon, a bench conference was had, out of the hearing of the Jury.)

MR. MAWN: Counsel for the State of Florida is now appealing to the emotions of the jury. This is not one of the enumerated aggravators. They're going into the heinous, atrocious and cruel argument, which is not going to be provided for the--

MR PARKER: It does not. I'm talking about their cold and calculated and premeditated manner of killing, when faced with the circumstances they proceeded.

THE COURT: I'll overrule your objection.

MR. MAWN: Cold, Judge, doesn't mean cold-hearted. It means, it's a different definition than what the State is arguing.

THE COURT: I understand I'll overrule your objection.

(Bench conference concluded.)

At the charge conference, defense counsel requested an instruction on "fairness and mercy." (V34, PPh371; Proposed Instruction K). The State objected to the instruction (V34, PPh372). The trial judge overruled the objection and gave the instruction. (V34, PPh374; V35, PPh514). The prosecutor's

¹⁴ Comments cited in Initial Brief as error are in bold.

comment was a fair comment on the instruction. In fact, defense counsel argued mercy in his closing statement (V35, PPh478, 507).

Furthermore, the objection made was not to the "mercy" part of the prosecutor's argument, but was only made after the prosecutor referred to Smith and Gill as "two helpless human beings, seated in a closed, disengaged from the rest of the hope-." (V35, world, no PPh443-444). There no contemporaneous objection to the "mercy" portion of the argument, and this issue is not preserved for appeal. v. State, 894 So. 2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005). Finally, this argument was relevant to the coldness of the defendant and was relevant to the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance. See Lugo v. State, 845 So.2d 74, 78 (Fla. 2003).

The second argument cited by Nowell was when the prosecutor commented on the jury instruction on "fairness and mercy":

Finally, you may consider anything. You may consider all other evidence presented during the trial or penalty phase proceeding which, in fairness and mercy, you find to be mitigating, in fairness and mercy.

Mercy. State asks that you recommend mercy if mercy is warranted. And mercy wasn't given in this case, not by Mr. Nowell, not by Mr. Bellamy. There was no mercy there, none whatsoever. Thank you.

MR. MAWN: Objection. May we approach?

THE COURT: Counsel, approach.

(Whereupon, a bench conference was had, out of the hearing of the Jury.)

MR. MAWN: The Defense is moving for a mistrial, based on the comments of the State of Florida indicating that mercy is inappropriate. I would cite Urbin vs. State at 714 So.2d 411. It's basically blatantly impermissible according to this case because it's inflammatory. In that particular case the prosecutor indicated the following: We attempted to show this defendant mercy. If you attempted to show him pity, I'm going to ask you to do this, to show him the same amount of mercy, the same amount of pity that he showed Jackson Hicks And that was not, then the same prosecutor used almost the identical argument, which was prohibited in Brooks vs. State cited at 762 -

THE COURT: You need to give me the cases. I can't --

MR. MAWN: I understand, Judge. I'm moving for the mistrial based on that argument.

THE COURT: Mr. Parker, do you wish to be heard?

MR. PARKER: My argument is according to the facts and the instructions of this Court. And I didn't argue in terms of a, I argued that the State suggests that you should give mercy where mercy is warranted. There was no mercy granted in this situation I see that as distinguishable, I see that as acceptable. It's not a feature of my argument.

THE COURT: I'm going to deny your motion at this time.

MR. MAWN: Yes, your Honor.

(Bench conference concluded.)

This was a fair comment on the jury instruction the judge was going to give and was not of the type cited in *Urbin v. State*, 714 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1998), in which the prosecutor argued to show the defendant the same mercy he showed the victim. The argument made by the prosecutor was more like the argument in

Lukehart v. State, 776 So.2d 906 (Fla. 2000), that the jury should not be swayed by sympathy, or the argument in Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9 (Fla. 2000), that the jury needs to put sympathy aside. See also Lugo v. State, 845 So.2d 74, 80-81 (Fla. 2003); Kearse v. State, 770 So.2d 1119, 1129 (Fla. 2000). Even if this could be construed as a "mercy" argument, it was not error. See Conahan v. State, 844 So.2d 629, 640-41 (Fla. 2003).

Next, Nowell complains that the prosecutor improperly argued the "avoid arrest" aggravator:

I believe the Court will read to you the instruction involving the third aggravating circumstance. That the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody.

Eliminating your witness is nothing more than an attempt to prevent a lawful arrest. See, it's different for you all. Imagine the, imagine the fear that this man had when he heard that this Kelvis Smith lived.

MR. MAWN: May I approach?

THE COURT: Counsel, approach

(Whereupon, a bench conference was had, out of the hearing of the Jury.)

MR. MAWN: Although the State of Florida was attempting to correct the problem, the State has violated the Golden Rule by putting the jury in the position of possibly being victimized by the killer, Mr. Nowell. The State was catching themselves and then attempted to correct that problem. But it's apparently a Golden Rule violation.

(V35, PPh449). The trial judge instructed the jury that the prosecutor improperly used the word "imagine" and the jury should disregard that term. (V35, PPh451). Contrary to the allegation by defense counsel, this was not a "golden rule" violation. The golden rule asks a juror to put himself in the shoes of the victim. The prosecutor simply made a gratuitous comment about how surprised the defendant must have been when he learned victim Smith survived two gunshots to the head. This argument went to whether the murder of Gill was to eliminate a witness and avoid arrest: the fact one of the witnesses survived was certainly relevant. Furthermore, the curative instruction corrected any problem the prosecutor created by using the word "imagine." See Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985).

Last, Nowell claims that the following argument required a mistrial:

The photographs of the house. Nice place. The testimony from the parents. Good folks. We love our child. We didn't teach him, we taught him right. The stepfather, and thank God for the stepfather, good man, giving man, nurturing. And Willie chose a different path, and he chose it at a young age. And we know that because the doctor testified that he does well when he's in confinement. He did well when he was confined as a boy. He did well when he was confined for five years for aggravated battery. But there's no guarantees that during confinement he won't kill again if you make him mad.

The age of the defendant at the time of the killing. That's another mitigating circumstance that you will be asked to consider, his age. Did his age in and of itself create a circumstance where he should be

forgiven this act, that he should mitigate against this act?

MR. MAWN: Your Honor, may we approach?

THE COURT: Counsel, approach.

(Whereupon, a bench conference was had, out of the hearing of the Jury.)

MR. MAWN: The Defense is moving for a mistrial based on the Prosecutor's statements that there is no guarantee that the defendant ill kill again. It's improper prosecutorial argument.

MR. PARKER: It's the evidence, it's the evidence in this case.

THE COURT: Dr. Riebsame testified to that?

MR. MAWN: Yes, Judge, but it's improper to argue that.

THE COURT: Even if there was testimony in the case, that would support that argument?

MR. MAWN: Yes

THE COURT: May I see your case?

MR. MAWN: I'm citing the cases that I have at this point, North vs. State. Concern over the possibility that one day the defendant could be pardoned if he's not sentenced to death is not a proper consideration.

MR. CHANG: Teffeteller vs. State, 439 So.2d 840, talks about the prosecutor made an argument, "Don't let him kill again."

THE COURT: That's different, that's not the same thing.

MR. PARKER: I'm not pleading with the jury, don't let him go so he could kill again. I'm quoting the doctor, the doctor said there's no quarantee.

THE COURT: I will deny the motion for mistrial. But Mr. Parker, you need to stay away from that.

(V35, PPh463). There was no contemporaneous objection to this comment. Even if there were, the prosecutor was repeating the testimony from the defense expert, Dr. Riebsame. (V33, PPh312). Nowell presented extensive testimony about how well he did in prison and how he would was a model inmate. These factors were even found in mitigation. (V15, R2385, 2387, 2388). In fact, one of the mitigating factors proposed was that "society can be protected by a sentence of life imprisonment." (V15, R2388). The trial judge gave this very little weight. Dr. Riebsame's testimony that Nowell was anti-social and there was no guarantee he would not kill in prison was relevant to this mitigating circumstance and fair game for argument in closing.

Fundamental error. As to the comment to which no objection was made, the issue is not preserved for appeal. As such, the error must be fundamental error in order to require a new penalty phase. See Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997); Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). The only exception to this procedural bar is where the prosecutor's comments constitute fundamental error. Bonifay v. State, 680 So. 2d 413, 418 n.9 (Fla. 1996). Fundamental error is defined as the type of error which "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Kilgore, 688 So. 2d at 898. See Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300, 316 (Fla. 1997); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 958-959 (Fla.

2003)("no mercy" comments do not rise to the level of error such that the jury's recommendations of death could not have been made without reliance upon them); McDonald v. State, 743 So.2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); Davis v. State, 604 So. 2d 794, 797 (Fla. 1992) (holding that comment by prosecutor during penalty phase closing argument that "it might not be a bad idea to look at [the knife] and think about what it would feel like if it went two inches into your neck" was improper, but it was not so egregious as to undermine jury's recommendation). See also Cohahan v. State, 844 So.2d 629, 641 (Fla. 2003)(unobjected-to comments, viewed in conjunction with objected-to comments, did not deprive defendant of fair penalty phase hearing); Evans v. State, 808 So.2d 92 (Fla. 2001).

Harmless error. As to the comments which were properly preserved: error, if any, was harmless. See Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985) (finding that although prosecutor's comments exceeded proper bounds of argument, misconduct not so outrageous as to taint validity of jury's recommendation). State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986).

POINT IV

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTES CONSTITUTIONAL

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